1960

Nick M. Vrontikis v. Dorothy Mae Jenson Vrontikis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For purposes of this brief the parties will be referred to by their designation in the trial court. Plaintiff and defendant first met in Fort Worth, Texas, in 1946, and were married at Elko, Nevada on the 30th day of October, 1952. (R. 145, 146). The marriage had as a foundation an “antenuptial” agreement, executed between the parties on the day of the marriage, wherein the plaintiff agreed to pay the defendant in event of divorce, \$250.00 if he were plaintiff, and \$1,000.00 if he were defendant. (R. 29-33). The lower court held the

contract null and void as far as the divorce proceeding is concerned, it being a "contract for a divorce" at the pleasure of the plaintiff. (R. 64). The antenuptial agreement is not an issue before this Court, except as to the claim by the defendant that it was used to upset and coerce the defendant through threats of the plaintiff.

Plaintiff filed his action for divorce on January 23, 1959, (R. 1) and his amended action on March 11, 1959 (R. 20). Defendant answered and counterclaimed on February 10, 1959 (R. 4), and amended the same on March 23, 1959 (R. 34). Trial was held on October 22, 1959 (R. 135), following hospitalizations of the defendant for physical and mental illnesses. (R. 260.)

Plaintiff testified that the defendant cursed and swore at him during the two years preceding the action (R. 172); that they had sexual intercourse on two occasions during 1958 (R. 174); that defendant would not let plaintiff have sexual intercourse (R. 174); that the times when they did have intercourse was when the *plaintiff* thought they were going to have a reconciliation. (R. 174.)

Plaintiff testified that in May 1958 he and defendant had discussed adopting children, and that the defendant refused, and did not change her mind thereafter; (R. 156-160) that defendant refused to visit plaintiff's parents and brother, or invite them to her home. (R. 148-150.)

Defendant denied that she swore or cursed the plaintiff (R. 258-259); or that she had refused to have

sexual intercourse with him (R. 258); or refused to have children (R. 258); or that she had referred to the parents or brother of the plaintiff in vulgar or obscene language (R. 259). Defendant testified that the plaintiff's habits of arrival and departure resulted in his coming home at 4:00 o'clock in the morning, which he did for several months, without accounting for his absence. (R. 262-263); that during a discussion regarding the antenuptial agreement, plaintiff threatened to throw defendant out of the house if she did not do what he told her (R. 265); that she wanted to adopt children about two years after the marriage, but plaintiff treated her like a doormat. (R. 279.)

Plaintiff's annual income for the years 1956, 1957 and 1958 was \$8,185.56, \$11,510.57, and \$7,620.03, respectively. (R. 212). Property acquired by the parties includes an equity in real estate in the sum of \$9,500.00 (R. 287); corporate stock of Vrontikis Bros., Inc., with a par value of \$10,000 (R. 181); a note receivable in the sum of \$10,000 (R. 186); household furnishings and appliances (R. 227); Gunsite Butte Uranium Corporation stock valued at \$1,080, which the lower court found not to be property of the plaintiff, although held in his name. (R. 183-4; R. 121.)

Of this property and income defendant was awarded \$3,000 as her share of the property, \$150 per month alimony and support money for one year, household appliances, attorney fees, and costs. (R. 126). Plain-

tiff was awarded the remainder of the property, and the divorce. (R. 126.)

Defendant appeals from the property award as being inequitable and unjust, and from the lower court's refusal to make such amendment in its findings, conclusions and decree. The defendant also claims reversible error in excluding evidence at the trial material to her defense and counterclaim, and for the trial court's refusal to grant a new trial on that basis.

Reversible error is also claimed in denying to the defendant discovery rights. The defendant further submits that plaintiff failed to establish that he had the necessary residence requirements to obtain a divorce.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

REVERSIBLE ERROR WAS COMMITTED IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE MATERIAL TO THE PROSECUTION OF DEFENDANT'S COUNTERCLAIM AND DEFENSE.

POINT II.

PREJUDICIAL ERROR WAS COMMITTED IN SUSTAINING PLAINTIFF'S OBJECTIONS TO DEFENDANT'S INTERROGATORIES OF MAY 21, 1959.

POINT III.

THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT A FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF HAD THE REQUISITE RESIDENCE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE COURT TO AWARD HIM A DIVORCE.

POINT IV.

THE PROPERTY AWARD IS INEQUITABLE AND UNJUST TO THE DEFENDANT, AND SHOULD BE MODIFIED.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

REVERSIBLE ERROR WAS COMMITTED IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE MATERIAL TO THE PROSECUTION OF DEFENDANT'S COUNTERCLAIM AND DEFENSE.

The lower court committed reversible error in excluding testimony offered by the defendant (1) bearing upon plaintiff's conduct prior to the filing of plaintiff's amended complaint and defendant's counterclaim; and (2) bearing upon plaintiff's action in using the antenuptial agreement in such a way as to inflict mental suffering on the defendant.

(1) Defendant called plaintiff as a witness at the trial and attempted to examine him regarding his conduct prior to the date defendant filed her counterclaim, and also prior to the date of the filing of the Amended Complaint by the plaintiff. The trial proceeding follows:

“BY MR. GEE:

Q. Mr. Vrontikis, during the first of February, 1959, you went to Mexico.

MR. PAUL COTRO-MANES: Your Honor, we object to it, it is immaterial. The date of filing the complaint was January 1959, what he did subsequent is not a matter before the court.

MR. GEE: I would argue that, first, it was before the amended complaint was filed; second, it was before the defendant's counterclaim was filed.

MR. PAUL COTRO-MANES: The commencement of this action is the date of the filing of the action.

(Argument by counsel)

THE COURT: What do you claim for this, Mr. Gee? Are you going to show some infidelity or question of infidelity, is that your purpose?

MR. GEE: I want to ask the defendant his whereabouts.

MR. N. J. COTRO-MANES: Is that your purpose?

MR. GEE: Your Honor, I have—

THE COURT: I have asked you the question. You can answer me.

MR. GEE: Yes, Your Honor, I would ask and I want to know whether he was stepping out on his wife or not.

THE COURT: Since the filing of the complaint?

MR. GEE: Yes, I asked him yesterday.

THE COURT: I think the ruling will be the same. The objection will be sustained."
(R. 284-285)

See also R. 210-211.

It is clear that the objection of the plaintiff is specific and based upon the premise that any action of the plaintiff after the filing of his complaint is immaterial. The Court sustained the objection after specific-

ally asking if the inquired of conduct was after the complaint was filed.

“It is a rule of universal application that an objection is deemed to be limited to the ground or grounds specified and does not cover others not specified. Where specific grounds are stated the implication is that there are no others, or, if others, that they are waived.” 88 C.J.C., Trial, §125b; *Atherley v. MacDonald, Young and Nelson, Inc.*, (Calif.) 298 P. 2d 700; *Godding v. Swanson*, (Pa.) 98 A. 2d 210; *Spencer, et al., v. Burns, et al.*, (Ill.) 108 N.E. 2d 413; *Sewer and Waterworks Improvement Dist. No. 1 v. McClendon*, (Ark.) 60 S.W. 2d 920.

All other grounds for objection having been waived, is the sole basis for objection by plaintiff, and the Court's sole reason for sustaining the objection, sound in law? Ample authority supports the principle that a cause of action of a defendant in a divorce action may be based upon facts occurring after the institution of the plaintiff's action, but prior to the filing of a counterclaim.

In the 1952 case of *Cameron v. Cameron* (N.C.), 68 S.E. 2d 796, the rule is stated as follows:

“It is well settled that in an action for divorce, either absolute or from bed and board, it is permissible for the defendant to set up a cause of action for divorce, either absolute or from bed and board, as a counterclaim or cross demand. * * * Such counterclaim or cross demand may even be based, in whole or in part, upon facts occurring after the institution of the action. * * * (citing cases.)”

The rationale underlying this rule is that the defendant could make her cause of action the subject matter of an independent suit, which suit would be separate and distinct from any claim of the plaintiff, and certainly not negated or controlled if or when the plaintiff files an action. The action of the defendant, as embraced in a counterclaim, asks independent relief and the Court should act upon it separately and apart from the plaintiff's action. *Pettigrew v. Pettigrew* (Ark.), 291 S.W. 90.

That appellant's action as embraced in a counterclaim may be based upon facts occurring after the institution of the suit by plaintiff and prior to the filing of the counterclaim is supported further by the following cases: *Roberts v. Roberts* (W. Va.), 128 S.E. 144; *Martin v. Martin*, 33 W. Va. 695, 11 S.E. 12; *Neddo v. Neddo*, 56 Kan. 507, 44 P. 1; *Heinemann v. Heinemann* (Wisc.), 233 N.W. 552; *VonBernuth v. VonBernuth* (N.J.), 74 A. 700; *Ames v. Ames*, 178 N.Y.S. 177; *Weiss v. Weiss*, 238 N.Y.S. 36.

All of this is not to lose sight of the fact that the inquired of conduct occurred before the filing of plaintiff's amended complaint, which we submit is the date of the institution of plaintiff's action.

Lest plaintiff now offer some other basis for his objection, we invite this Court's attention to the general rule that "if evidence is erroneously excluded on a certain ground, the ruling will not be sustained because the evidence might have been inadmissible on another ground, although such other grounds have been assigned by counsel objecting to the admission of the evidence

(not the case here!) but not adopted by the court as the basis for its decision.” 4 C.J.S., Appeal and Error, p. 894; See *Huntsman v. Huntsman* (Utah), 192 P. 368; *Ryals v. Wilson* (Ga.), 111 S.E. 414; *Bloodgood v. Lynch, et al.* (N.Y.), 56 N.E. 2d 718; *Chicago R. I. & P. Ry. Co. v. Hughes* (Okla.), 166 P. 411. The rationale behind the rule is that the objection must inform the court the point being argued by the objector and inform the opposite party the point of the objection so that he may have an opportunity to obviate the error if possible. Such we submit is the underlying rule of the *Huntsman* decision *supra*, wherein this Court refused to uphold a sustaining of an objection on grounds other than those specified, which were without merit, on the premise that the opposite party to the objector was “thrown off guard” by the lower court’s action in erroneously sustaining on the specific ground.

The lower court committed reversible error in excluding the aforementioned evidence, and in denying defendant’s motion for a new trial. That the error is prejudicial is apparent. Can justice and equity be done by the defendant if the foregoing evidence sought to be introduced is not weighed in considering defendant’s grounds for divorce? Or weighed in corroboration of defendant’s testimony regarding plaintiff’s habits of arrival and departure? The evidence also challenges plaintiff’s standing to ask for equitable relief; it bears directly on the questionable cleanliness of plaintiff’s hands as he stands before the Court. Is it not prejudicial to deny defendant the opportunity to refute the “fault-

less'' claim of plaintiff, whether as a defense or separate claim?

The excluded evidence also bears upon the credibility of plaintiff, who denied any infidelity. (R. 209-210). Furthermore, plaintiff claimed he suffered certain distress as a result of defendant's acts, which claim would have questionable foundation if the evidence sought to be introduced had not been excluded. We submit that as long as this Court considers relative fault as a factor in granting a divorce and awarding property to the parties, it should receive and weigh the evidence which was here excluded to the prejudice of the defendant.

(2) The Court denied the admission in evidence of a letter from an attorney purportedly representing the plaintiff, addressed to and received by the plaintiff, in late 1956 and alleging defendant's non-compliance with the terms of an antenuptial agreement, (R. 29) which allegation was groundless, as the agreement itself will show and caused the defendant to suffer mental distress. (R. 265). The letter so submitted would have further corroborated the claims of defendant that the agreement was the basis of threats, argument and discord.

The Court denied receipt of the Exhibit on the ground of hearsay:

“MR. GEE: Your Honor, I would like to submit this in evidence.

MR. N. J. COTRO-MANES: We object, Your Honor please, on the ground — I would like to ask her one question before I make my objection on the instrument.

THE COURT: Isn't it hearsay? This is not from the defendant, is it?

MR. GEE: It is a party representing to be attorney of the defendant. (sic)

THE COURT: It would still be hearsay, wouldn't it? It would be hearsay if it was from the plaintiff himself unless you brought it in in the admission against interest rule. You can't avoid the hearsay rule by submitting written communication through an agent.

MR. GEE: May we withhold the submission at this time?

THE COURT: All right, or you may reoffer it. It is denied at this time." (R. 256.)

In an attempt to show the agency relationship, and that the Exhibit was sent at the request and instance of plaintiff, and with malice, and that the antenuptial agreement was used by plaintiff as an instrument of coercion and duress, since by its terms the defendant would be left virtually penniless in event of divorce, plaintiff was asked the following by counsel for defendant:

"Q. Who was your attorney in the fall of 1956?

MR. N. J. COTRO-MANES: Just a minute, object to that, it is incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial and not within the issues of this case.

MR. GEE: It is preliminary, Your Honor.

MR. N. J. COTRO-MANES: I don't see the materiality.

MR. GEE: I will get to it.

MR. N. J. COTRO-MANES: State the purpose why you ask the question.

THE COURT: Why.

MR. GEE: It falls in the making of the antenuptial agreement, the attorney wrote letters to my client for her failure to abide with the terms of the antenuptial agreement. It is for the purpose of showing this lever that was used by the plaintiff.

THE COURT: To do what?

MR. GEE: To force his will, or obtain his way with the defendant.

THE COURT: How would asking who is attorney show that?

You don't have the attorney available, you would be stuck with his answer anyway, wouldn't you, whether he says he uses force or not.

MR. GEE: It is to ascertain whether upon his instigation or his attorney's and with his knowledge, his attorney contacted the defendant and told the defendant she was not abiding by the terms of the antenuptial agreement.

THE COURT: I think the objection should be sustained.'" (R. 290-291.)

In *Brookins v. Brookins* (Iowa), 300 N.W. 540, the court in admitting a letter from the secretary of the defendant to the defendant, although never received by him, held:

"The general rule is stated in 20 Am. Jur. 807, thus: 'Generally, correspondence of persons where offered as evidence of the facts stated therein must be excluded under the general principle respecting *res inter alios acta*, unless the party against whom the communications are tendered is in some way connected therewith or knew and approved their utterance. Letters of third

persons are receivable in evidence, however, when they are merely collateral, introductory, or incidental to, or in illustration of, the testimony which the witness gives, or are receivable to establish what one's intention was or where he was at a given time.' Here defendant was connected with the letters. They were addressed to him. They corroborated other evidence of his relations with his secretary. They tended to confirm plaintiff's suspicions. The statements of fact contained in them were obviously hearsay. In an action tried to a jury, their admissibility would be very doubtful. But, in an action in equity, tried to the court, with their weight as evidence limited by full appreciation of the narrow limits within which they might be considered, we think that the objection to their admission in evidence is not well taken."

In the case before this Court, the defendant attempted to not only prove an agency relationship through admissions of the principal, but that the principal, Nick Vrontikis, had his attorney contact the defendant regarding alleged conduct that had no foundation in fact; that the action of the plaintiff in this regard, in light of the mental and emotional state of the defendant was malicious and an act of extreme cruelty. In sustaining the objection to the preliminary question set forth above, the Court stated: "You don't have the attorney available, you would be stuck with his answer anyway, wouldn't you, whether he says he uses force or not." (R. 291.)

By what rule of law is a party precluded from asking a question because he is going to be stuck with the

answer? Can not this be said about all questions, and of all witnesses? The Court apparently considered the question one of trial technique, rather than one of the rules and principles governing evidence.

In the case of *Whitaker v. Keogh* (Neb.), 14 N.W. 2d 596, the court held:

“The plaintiff complains of the ruling of the trial court in excluding a statement made by the chauffeur of defendant’s car immediately after the collision. Plaintiff offered to show that the chauffeur said: ‘Lady, I am sorry. I just saw you the instant I collided with you.’ We think the evidence was properly receivable as an admission against interest. Whatever an agent or employee does in the lawful exercise of his authority is imputable to the principal, and where the acts of an agent or employee will bind the principal, his representations, declarations and admissions respecting the subject matter will also bind him, if made at the same time and constitute a part of the same transaction. Wigmore, Evidence, sec. 1078. The question is one of substantive law, the law of agency. It is not a question of *res gestae* as is often supposed. Wigmore, Evidence, sec. 1797.”

See also *Myrick v. Lloyd* (Fla.), 27 So. 2d 615.

In view of the foregoing authority and reasoning, we submit that the trial court committed reversible error in excluding the evidence aforementioned, and not granting defendant’s motion for a new trial.

Evidence of the effect of the antenuptial agreement, and the use made by the plaintiff thereof, should have

been received by the court, in its consideration of the claim and defense of the defendant. The excluded evidence (1) bore directly on defendant's grounds for divorce; (2) would have corroborated defendant's testimony as to plaintiff's use of the agreement to coerce her; (3) was material in considering plaintiff's standing for equitable relief; (4) should have been weighed in any property award where relative fault was a factor in determining the award.

POINT II.

PREJUDICIAL ERROR WAS COMMITTED IN SUSTAINING PLAINTIFF'S OBJECTIONS TO DEFENDANT'S INTERROGATORIES OF MAY 21, 1959.

On May 21, 1959, defendant submitted to the plaintiff interrogatories under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (R. 59). Plaintiff objected to numbers 2, 4, 5 and 6 thereof (R. 61), and the Court sustained the objection (R. 65). The action of the Court is prejudicial error.

Rule 33, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides in part:

“Any party may serve upon any adverse party written interrogatories to be answered by the party served or, if the party served is a public or private corporation or a partnership or association, by any officer or agent, who shall furnish such information as is available to the party.

* * *,”

“Interrogatories may relate to any matters which can be inquired into under Rule 26(b), and

the answers may be used to the same extent as provided in Rule 26(d) for the use of the deposition of a party. * * *

Rule 26(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides:

“Unless otherwise ordered by the court as provided by Rule 30(b) or (d), the deponent may be examined regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action, whether it relates to the claim or defense of the examining party, or to the claim or defense of any other party, including the existence, description, nature, custody, condition and location of any books, documents, or other tangible things and the identity and location of persons having knowledge of relevant facts. It is not ground for objection that the testimony will be inadmissible at the trial if the testimony sought appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.”

Question 2 under the interrogatories is typical of the information sought, and reads as follows:

“2. What was the net worth of Vrontikis Bros., Inc. at the conclusion of the years 1956, 1957 and 1958? What is the present net worth and book value of Vrontikis Bros., Inc.?”

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