1960

Nick M. Vrontikis v. Dorothy Mae Jenson Vrontikis : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING CERTAIN TESTIMONY OF THE PLAINTIFF ON THE GROUNDS THAT DEFENDANT FAILED TO LAY ANY FOUNDATION FOR THE INTRODUCTION OF THE TESTIMONY.

In Point One of defendant's brief, she sets forth certain excerpts from the transcript relative to certain alleged conduct of the plaintiff. Defendant has seen fit to omit from her brief other testimony relating to this same issue. The following is the record:

Q. (By Mr. Gee) "When were you out of the country this last year?

A. (Mr. Vrontikis) February.

Q. February 1959?

A. Yes.

* * * *

Q. Who accompanied you to Mexico?

MR. N. J. COTRO-MANES: I object to all this cross examination as improper, not proper cross examination and on the further ground that there is nothing in the pleadings to substantiate this.

THE COURT: Well, this is an equitable proceedings. I suppose counsel seeks to show by cross examination that the plaintiff is not in a blameless position, and that plaintiff is not one that should receive equity at the hands of the court.

MR. N. J. COTRO-MANES: Where would the equity come in if he took a trip?

MR. PAUL COTRO-MANES: Further, this February is after filing of the complaint for divorce.

THE COURT: Is that right?

MR. GEE: That is right, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I don't think it is material then.

MR. GEE: It would be material if we could show the course of action preceding it.

THE COURT: If you could show something preceding it?

MR. GEE: Yes.

THE COURT: You should begin by showing prior events, and it might be that the circumstances after would have a bearing with respect to credibility.

MR. GEE: It might also go to credibility, it would develop a problem.

THE COURT: The rules with regard to the test of credibility, it seems to the court in this instance, don't justify its receipt, and the objection is sustained" (R. 210-11).

The defendant took the stand and testified to certain acts of the plaintiff which caused her mental distress in support of her counter-claim ground for divorce of Mental Cruelty. It is important to note that this is the only ground upon which she predicated her claim for an award of the divorce to herself. She did not amend her pleadings to come in any of the other grounds as allowed by the Utah Statutes. In reading over her testimony, it is to be noted that she did not once mention any conduct of the plaintiff which caused her any mental or physical suffering after October, 1958. How then, is anything that occurred after October, 1958 grounds for divorce?

The examination of the plaintiff by counsel for the defendant was for the purpose of proving the grounds for divorce as set forth by the defendant herself. As she based her claim

upon mental cruelty, conduct which had no effect upon her mental or physical being were not grounds for divorce as pleaded in her counter-claim.

If the defendant wanted to go into matters which were not pleaded in her counter-claim, she had the affirmative duty to amend her pleadings. This was not done. To allow the defendant to go outside of her pleadings in an attempt to prove grounds for divorce other than those pleaded would be to place the plaintiff in the position of having no notice upon which he could predicate a defense.

The court recently observed:

“Notwithstanding all of our efforts to eliminate technicalities and liberalize procedure, we must not lose sight of the cardinal principle that under our system of justice, if an issue is to be tried and a party’s rights concluded with respect thereto, he must have notice thereof and an opportunity to meet it.”

Buehner Block Co. v. Gelzos, 6 U.2d 226, 310 P.2d 517 quoting the case of National Farmers Union v. Thompson, 4 U.2d 7, 286 P.2d 249.

Rule 8 (a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides that the complaint or counter-claim shall contain a statement of the claim upon which the party seeks recovery. -

This Court, in the case of Blackham v. Snelgrove, 3 U.2d 157, 280 P.2d 453, holds that the complaint is required to give the opposing party fair notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim.

Rule 15 (b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, “Amendments to conform to the Evidence,” provides:

“When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings.”

It is apparent from the strong objections made by plaintiff when the defendant sought to examine plaintiff as to a trip to Mexico, and defendant’s counsel having stated that he sought to show “infidelity” and that “plaintiff was stepping out on defendant,” that there was no consent by plaintiff, either express or implied, to the trial of this issue.

The record discloses that the defendant did not at any time move the court for leave to amend her pleadings to raise the issue of adultery, although Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows liberal amendments. *Wells v. Wells*, 2 U.2d 241, 272 P.2d 167.

The Supreme Court of Utah, in the case of *Mitchell v. Palmer*, 121 U. 245, 240 P.2d 970, held that an objection on the grounds of immateriality and irrelevancy to the introduction of grounds not pleaded in the complaint was proper, and that if the other side did not move for leave to amend as provided by Rule 15 (b), he could not properly pursue those grounds.

The court sustained the objection to the introduction of the plaintiff’s activities after the filing of the complaint on the grounds of immateriality (R. 210) and the following day in referring back to its previous ruling again refused to allow any evidence of events not complained about by the defendant or which occurred after the filing of the plaintiff’s complaint. The Court, in discussing the defendant’s objections to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, asked defendant’s

counsel to show the court any instance where the defendant, herself, had complained of the conduct of the plaintiff during the months of January or February, 1959. Counsel could not do this as there was nothing in the record to show that the defendant had suffered by reason of the conduct of the plaintiff during this period.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL AS NO SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS OF THE DEFENDANT HAD BEEN EFFECTED BY ANY RULING OF THE COURT.

The defendant had her day in court. She now seeks another day. Rule 61, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, states:

“No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence, and no error or defect in any ruling or order in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing the judgment order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceedings must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.”

As pointed out previously the grounds for divorce as plead by the defendant was based upon “mental cruelty.” Not adultery or any other grounds as specified by 30-3-1, Utah Code Annotated 1943 as amended. She made no complaint about any conduct of the defendant after October, 1958.

How then, can she complain about a substantial right being affected by the exclusion of evidence, even if proper, which would not be and could not be the basis of granting a divorce in her favor?

The burden is upon the defendant to show that the refusal of the court to admit the introduction of the evidence was prejudicial. *Burton v. ZCMI*, 122 U. 360, 249 P.2d 514.

To what extent was the defendant prejudiced by having the record shortened by limiting the examination on this subject? The record shows that the plaintiff under cross-examination denied any and all associations with other women for a period of two years immediately prior to the filing of the complaint by the plaintiff (R. 209-210). What further benefit could the defendant have derived from further denials by the plaintiff? The defendant did not offer to put on any other witness, other than the plaintiff himself, to show misconduct on his part, and then the defendant did not complain of any actions of his during the time that counsel for defendant sought to go into.

Defendant, in an attempt to get her "other day in court" now seeks to use the trial court's refusal to go into events, not complained about by the defendant, as a means of obtaining a new trial, by charging error.

The Supreme Court of Utah has set forth the basis upon which a trial court may grant a new trial.

In the case of *Startin v. Madsen*, 120 U. 631, 237 P.2d 834, the Court said:

"We must keep uppermost in mind the provision of our statute. See 104-14-7, UCA, 1943. The Court

must * * * disregard any error * * * which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties and no judgment shall be reversed or affected by reason of such error or defect. See Rule 61, U.R.C.P., to the same effect. Before the appellant is entitled to prevail, he must show both error and prejudice; that is, that his *substantial rights* are affected, and that there is at least a fair likelihood that the result would have been different. (Citing cases). Even if incompetent evidence is admitted, unless it is harmful to defendant, it is not grounds for reversal." (Citing cases).

The much cited case of *Crellin v. Thomas*, 122 U. 122, 247 P.2d 264, in discussing the granting of a new trial on the grounds of newly discovered evidence, held:

" * * * the exercise of judicial discretion in such instance must be based on a showing of substantial material evidence, from which it appears there is at least a *reasonable likelihood that it would affect the result of a new trial*." (Emphasis ours).

See also *Uptown Appliance v. Flint*, 123 U. 153, 249 P.2d 826, to the same effect.

Even if there has been error in excluding the evidence, the court should not grant a new trial as to the facts, if the court was satisfied with the facts, but merely allow the issue of the law to be retried. *Tebbs & Tebbs v. Oliveto*, 123 U. 153, 256 P.2d 699. In the case now before the court, the trial court was satisfied with the facts of the case and therefore the only question would be one of law, and there was no question of law involved, as the defendant had failed and refused to amend her pleadings to allege any ground for divorce which, in light of the evidence adduced, would have been basis for awarding the defendant the divorce.

The appellant cites many cases with regard to the introduction of evidence of grounds for divorce which occurred after the filing of plaintiff's complaint and before the filing of defendant's counter-claim. It is submitted that this is proper, and the trial court should permit the introduction which would go to prove the allegations of the defendant's counter-claim, however the evidence sought to be introduced must go to the proof of those allegations. The Supreme Court of Tennessee, (*Schwalb v. Schwalb*, 282 SW, 2d 661, 1955), held that matters may be considered by the court which occurred after the filing of the divorce action, if incorporated into the action by amendment or supplemental bill.

The Supreme Court of Vermont in the case of *Raymond v. Raymond* (1957), 132 A.2d 427, held that the events occurring after the filing of the complaint must be incorporated into the action by amendment of pleadings. The court stated further that it is a prerequisite that the other party be appraised of the grounds upon which the party asserting the later events is relying, and that if the other party is not appraised, by amendment or its equivalent, the introduction of evidence of such later events is objectionable.

The defendant sought to show infidelity, but did not plead this as a grounds for divorce, nor did she testify as to any infidelity of the plaintiff, nor did she testify as to any suffering because of the actions of the plaintiff after October, 1958. What then, is the prejudice to the plaintiff? As pointed out before, plaintiff denied any infidelity on cross-examination by defendant's counsel (R. 209-210).

Defendant attempts in her brief to make something out

of the form of the objection made by plaintiff's counsel. Defendant ignores the court's ruling made the previous day on the same issue (R. 211) and ignores the fact that the court referred back to its previous ruling. The objection made on one ground was that the matter was not within the pleadings (R. 210).

Rule 15 (b) provides:

“ * * * If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits.”

Again it is pointed out that defendant did not seek to enlarge the grounds upon which she sought a divorce. As to credibility, the record shows the statements of the plaintiff. Defendant offered no proof, either through her own statements or through the testimony of other witnesses to question the credibility of the plaintiff. How then could this line of questioning attack the credibility of the plaintiff?

Defendant's counsel was specifically asked by the court the basis for his questioning the plaintiff about his whereabouts in February, 1959, and counsel admitted that it was to show infidelity, thereupon the court made the same ruling as it had on the previous day, and sustained plaintiff's objections to the line of questioning.

The law is clear that in a divorce action, the court may grant a divorce only upon the grounds as alleged in the com-

plaint or counter-claim. As stated in the Alabama case of Rudicell v. Rudicell (1955) 77 So.2d 339:

“While evidence tending to show acts of illicit sexual intercourse between defendant and others subsequent to the filing of the bill was admissible *when offered in connection with or subsequent to the introduction of evidence tending to show adulterous intercourse between the parties during the time covered by the averments of the bill, the right to relief must rest upon proof of the adulterous intercourse charged in the bill.*” (Emphasis ours).

See also Renner v. Renner (1940) Maryland, 12 A.2d 195, 127 A.L.R. 674; Thayer v. Thayer, 101 Mass. 100 Am Dec 110; Hendricks v. Hendricks, 123 U. 178, 257 P.2d 366; Gilmore v. Gilmore, Cal., 287 P.2d 769.

This Court has ruled that recrimination in a divorce action has been discarded. Hendricks v. Hendricks, 123 U. 178, 257 P.2d 366; Curry v. Curry, 7 U.2d 198, 321 P.2d 939; Griffiths v. Griffiths, 3 U.2d 82, 278 P.2d 983. The New Mexico Supreme Court has gone into the historical background and has ruled that it had no basis in modern divorce law. Pavletich v. Payletich, NM, 174 P.2d 826. In that case the trial court announced:

“At this time I may as well state that I do not intend to make a finding of adultery, because I do not believe that adultery existing after a separation and state of incompatibility, with the parties living separate and apart, is material to the decision of the court in granting a divorce * * * .”

This was affirmed by the Supreme Court, which ruled

“The trial Court, therefore, correctly ruled that the question of adultery of appellant (Plaintiff, husband) was immaterial.”

POINT III.

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS A FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS A RESIDENT OF SALT LAKE COUNTY FOR MORE THAN THREE MONTHS PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE ACTION.

The defendant's contention under Point III of her brief may be likened to that of a drowning man reaching for a straw to support himself upon.

It is interesting to note that defendant admitted in her answer dated February 10, 1959, that the plaintiff was a resident of Salt Lake County and had been for more than three months prior to filing the action. (See Answer and Amended Answer).

It is also interesting to note that the defendant did not request the court to amend its Findings of Fact with regard to this fact.

The record abounds with evidence and testimony of both plaintiff (R. 145) and defendant as to the fact that the plaintiff was engaged in business in Salt Lake City and had been since 1952, that the plaintiff and defendant lived on State Street from 1952 until 1957, when they moved to Country Club Drive where they lived until the time of the filing of the divorce in 1959. The residency of the plaintiff in Salt Lake County since 1952 was established beyond any doubt

and the trial court so found. Where there are facts upon which the trial court could base its findings the appellate court will not disturb those findings. The law and cases have established this beyond the necessity of citing authority.

POINT IV.

THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS THE OWNER OF STOCK OF GUNSITE BUTTE URANIUM CORPORATION.

Defendant, in her brief, for the first time, raises a point that the plaintiff was the owner of 36,000 shares of stock of Gunsite Butte Uranium Corporation, valued at \$1,080.00.

Defendant did not request the trial court to make a finding that the plaintiff was the owner of this stock, but raises this issue for the first time upon appeal.

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